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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

4Indm. 4 8 7 2

THE ASSOCIATED PRESS,
Plaintiff,
- against -
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT :
OF DEFENSE and its component,
DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE, : ﬂj r: (_J {:‘ B w E

Defendants. : . [ JUN 2 2 7004

X e
11,5.D.C. 8, D.N N.Y.
CASHIERS

Plaintiff, The Associated Press (“AP*), pursuant to Rule 7.1 of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure, states that it has no parents, subsidiaries, or affiliates that have any
outstanding securifies in the hands of the public, has no publicly held stock, and no publicly
held company owns 10% or more of its stock.

Dated: June #2004

New York, NY
LEVINE SULLIVAN KOCH & SCHULZ LLP

WAM/

Pavid 4 Schulz (DS-
Cameron Stracher (CS> 9)
230 Park Avenue, Suite 1160
New York, NY 10169

£: (212) 850-6100
f: (212) 850-6299 copy RECEIVED
David H. Tomlin JUN 2 2 2004
The Associated Press .

.5,
50 Rockefeller Plaza S AWORNEY SDNY
New York, NY 10020

Attorneys for The Associated Press



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

THE ASSOCIATED PRESS,
Plaintiff,
- against -
COMPLAINT
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT
OF DEFENSE and its component, .
DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE, E @ E !“ \ E r\
Defendants. X "U JUN 22 2004
US.DC SD.NY
CASHIERS

Plaintiff, The Associated Press (“AP”), by its undersigned attorneys;atleges

INTRODUCTION

1. This is an action under the Freedom of information Act (“FOIA™), 5
U.S.C. § 552, et seq., brought by the nation’s largest nev;/sgathering organization to compel
access to a microfilm copy of the military personnel file of President George W. Bush that is
held by the Tc;xas State Library and Archives Commission (the “Texas archives™) in Austin,
Texas. Obtaining a copy of this microfilm file is a matter of urgent concern to the AP in
connection with its reporting on the 2004 presidential election campaign.

2. A significant controversy has arisen in the ongoing campaign over the
President’s military service during the Vietnam War, and specifically whether he performed
his required days of service during a period between May 1972 and May 1973. Allegations
have been made that the military personnel file for George W. Bush released to the press

earlier this year is not complete. The public has an intense and legitimate GORY M%VE@
N 22 2004

DNY
4.5 ATTORNEY SONY y

P:\Associated Press\TANG FOIAVPleadings\DOD complaint. doc



the validity of these claims, which well may be answered by reviewing the microfilm copy of
the personnel file in the Texas archives.

3. On information and belief, the microfilm copy of the personnel file is
under the direct control of the Air National Guard of the United States, a unit of the
defendants. This file is subject to public disclosure under FOIA, and the President has
publicly waived any objection to the release of “everything” in his military personnel file.

4. Nevertheless, for three months defendants have failed to respond to
AP’s repeated requests, oral and written, for access to the archived copy of the personnel file
pursuant to FOIA. Although the file consists of a small number of clearly-defined and easily
identifiable documents, defendants did not expedite their response as requested by AP under
5 US.C. § 552(a)(6)(E), they did not produce the file within the time required by law, ar_ld
they will not now estimate when the file might be produced or even confirm that an effort has
been initiated to retrieve a copy from the microfilm at the Texas archives.

5. Given the public’s indisputable right under FOIA to inspect this file,
the absence of any privacy objection by the President, the lack of any burden in lécating or
producing the file, and the obvious importance of its release in advance of the November
clection, AP seeks declaratory and injunctive relief to compel the release of records that are
being unlawfully withheld from the public. AP secks expeditious treatment of this
Complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1657.

THE PARTIES

6. Plaintiff is a news cooperative that operates the world’s oldest and

largest newswire service, providing content to some 15,000 news outlets. AP is a not-for-



proftt membership corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, with its
headquarters located at 50 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, N.Y.

7. Defendant Department of Defense (“DOD”) is a department within the
executive branch of the United States government. Defendant Department of the Air Force is
a component of DOD and operates the Air National Guard of the United States. Both
defendants are agencies of the United States within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal
jurisdiction over the defendants pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(a)}(4)(B) and 552(&)(6)(E)(iii).
This Court also has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 5 U.S.C.
§§ 701-706. |

9. Venue is premised on plaintiff’s place of business and is proper in this

district under 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4XB).

FACTS

The election controversy behind AP’s FOIA request

10. George W. Bush served in the Texas Air National Guard from 1968 to
1973, during the height of the Vietnam War. His military service became a significant issue
of public debate earlier this year, after questions were raised about Whether he showed up for
duty between May 1972 and May 1973. His commanding officer in Texas reported at the
time that “Lt. Bush has not been observed at his unit” during this period, but was believed to

be “performing equivalent training” in Alabama.

11. When no one seemed able to confirm that Lt. Bush actually appeared

for duty in Alabama, Democrats called on the President to release his entire military file to



put the matter to rest. Appearing on NBC’s “Meet the Press” on February 8, 2004, the
President “absolutely” agreed to open “everything” in his military personnel file, without
exception.

12. Subsequently, on or about Feb. 10, 2004 Defense Financing
Accounting Service (“D-FAS”) in Denver, Colorado released Bush military pay records. On
or about February 13, 2004, the White House produced several hundred pages of documents
that it understood and intended to be “the entire file.” On information and belief, these
documents were compiled from records maintained by the Texas Air National Guard at Camp
Mabry and from the National Personnel Records Center in St. Louis, Missouri.

13. The file released by the White House contained no documentation
from Alabama and provided no direct evidence that Lt. Bush had served in Alabama.

14.  Allegations have been leveled concerning the completenesslof the
military records produced by the White House. On or about February 12, 2004, former Lt.
Col. Bill Burkett of tl;e Texas Air National Guard told AP of his personal knowledge that in |
1997 potentially embarrassing items were removed from the physical file of Bush’s military

service at Camp Mabry, as he geared up for re-clection as Governor of Texas.

The existence of a second copy of the military file

15.  Pursuant to Texas state law and document retention regulations, a copy
of the individual military personnel files of all individuals serving in the Texas Air National
Guard must permanently be retained on microfilm at the Texas archives, located at the Texas
Records Center, 4400 Shoal Creek Boulevard, Austin, Texas. On information and belief, a

copy of the individual military personnel file for President Bush, together with active duty



reports, attendance records and related material bearing on his military service, exists on

microfilm residing at this location.

16.  On information and belief, no one has looked at any of the records of

the Texas Air National Guard maintained at the Texas archives since 1996.

AP’s multiple etforts to obtain a copy of the archive file
17.  Pursuant to Texas Government Code § 441.193(g), requests for public
access to documents held in the Texas archives must be authorized by the agency having

“legal custody™ of the records.

'18. AP submitted a request under the Texas Public Informaﬁon Act to the
Texas Air National Guard on March 11, 2004, seeking, inter alfa; “all documents retained on
microfilm that comprise thé individual military personnel records for George W. Bush
(discharged)....”

19, Inthe March 11 request to the Texas Air National Guard, AP stressed
that the archive file was sought for news reporting on a matter of great public interest, and
requested expedited treatment of its application under the Texas Public Information Act.

20.  The very next day, by letter dated March 12, 2004, the Texas Air
National Guard advised AP that individual military personnel files were considered “federal”
files, and AP’s request had been forwarded to the National Guard Bureau in Arlington,
Virginia for a response.

21. AP promptly protested the transfer of its request for documents created
by the Texas Air National Guard and maintained in the Texas archives. By letter dated

March 19, 2004, AP also requested certain additional files from the microfilm at the Texas



archives, including active duty reports, attendance records and any orders relating to the
squadron in which the President had served that were issued during the time of his service.

22, By letter dated March 30, 2004, the Texas Air National Guard repeated
its position that the personnel file was under the “direct control” of the United States Air
National Guard and subject to disclosure only pursuant to FOIA. It further advised AP that
its request had now been transferred once more, this time from the National Guard Bureau in
Vill'ginia to the Directorate for Freedom of Information & Security Review at the Department
of Defense in Washington, D.C. |

23. Without accepting as accurate the characterization of the military
personnel file in the Texas archive as a federal file, and in a continuing effort to accwelerate the
release of the records, on or about April 7, 2004 AP submitted directly to DOD the same
requests it had previously submitted to the Texas Air National Guard, and asked for release
of the documents under FOIA.

24, In its FOIA request to DOD, AP once again stressed that it v.vas seeking
the documents in connection Wlth its news reporting on a matter of great public interest. AP
requested expedited treatment of its request, as authorized by FOIA, 5 U.S.C.

§ 552(a)(6)(E)(), and DOD regulationé, 32 C.F.R. § 286.4(d)(3).

25.  DOD did not respond to AP’s request in writing. In a subsequent
telephone conversation, a DOD FOI officer, Jim Hogan, confirmed to counsel for AP that
DOD did indeed consider the request for the individual personnel file of a member of the
Texas Air National Guard to be a request for federal documents subject to disclosure only

pursuant to the provisions of FOIA. However, Mr. Hogan stated that the other microfilm



files requested by AP (attendance records, active duty reports, etc.) were considered by DOD
to be state records.

26.  Having received no written response and no access to the archive copy
of the personnel file, on April 23, 2004 AP submitted a further letter, jointly urging both
DOD and the Texas Air National Guard to expedite the processing of the release of the
archived personnel file. AP stressed that it had been seeking the personnel file for nearly six
weeks, pursuant to both state and federal law, and that they were needed in connection with
an on-going news story of great public interest.

27. By letter dated April 30, 20Q4 the Texas Air National Guard responded
to AP that DOD was handling the request for the personnel file, and Texas Air National
Guard considered the “case closed.”

28.  DOD did not respond to AP’s April 23 request in writing. When
called by AP counsel on or about April 30, Mr. Hogan indicated that the personnel file
| requestéd by AP had been collected, processed and reviewed for redactions, and estimated
that it would be produced within a week. -

29. When no documents were forthcoming, AP counsel again spoke with
Mr. Hogan on or about May 10, 2004. At that time Mr. Hogan indicated the documents were
being reviewed by counsel, and he could not estimate when they would be produced.

30.  The documents were still not forthcoming. In a further telephone
conversation two weeks later, on or about May 25, 2004, Mr. Hogan repeated that the lawyers
were reviewing the documents. When questioned by AP counsel, however, Mr. Hogan could

not confirm whether the documents collected in response to AP’s request were from the



microfilm maintained at the Texas archives, or were simply copies of the same material
previously collected and released by th: White House in February.

31.  Upon hearing this, AP that same day promptly filed with both DOD
and the National Guard Bureau an adminisﬁative appeal from the effective denial of its FOIA
request.

32,  Inits May 25 administrative appeal, AP underscored that it was
seeking a copy of the microfilm file. AP objected that, by law, the file should have been
produced within twenty days of the re(iuest {all apart from the disregarded request to
expedite), yet no documents had been produced and no request for additional time had been
made.

33. In its administrative appeal, AP underscored the time-sensitive nature
of its request, and requested expedited consideration of the appeal.

34. By letter dated May 28, 2004, DOD acknowledged receipt of the
administrative appeal, but said it could not respond within the statutory period for
determining appeals. It denied AP’s request to expedite the appeal, saying all requests are
treated equally on a first in first out basis, notwithstanding the agency’s obligation under
FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E), to provide a process for expediting both requests and appeals
where a “compelling need” exists for a prompt disclosure of documents.

35.  More than twenty days have passed since AP submitted its
administrative appeal to DOD and the National Guard Bureau. AP has received no further

response to its appeal.

36, AP has exhausted its administrative remedies.



FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of FOIA for failing to expediic AP’s request)

37. - AP repeats, realleges, and incorporates the allegations in the foregoing
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

38.  Defendants’ failure to expedite the processing of AP’s request violates
FOIA, S U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E), and defendants” own regulations promulgated thereunder.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of FOIA for failure to timely respond to AP’s request)

39. AP repeats, realleges, and incorporates the allegations in the foregoing
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

40.  Defendants’ failure to respond timely to plaintiffs’ request violates
FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(1), and defendants’ own regulations promulgated thereunder.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of FOIA for failure to make records promptly available)

41. AP repeats, realleges, and incorporates the allegations in the foregoing

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

42.  Defendants’ failure to make promptly available and to release the

documents reasonably described by AP violates FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A).

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, AP respectfully prays that this Court:

a. Expedite consideration of this Complaint pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1657;

b. Declare that the microfilm copy of the military personnel file of

President George W. Bush maintained at the Texas archives is subject



to FOIA and must be disclosed by defendants in the manner proscribed

by FOIA;

c. Order defendants immediately and expeditiously in advance of the
November election to provide to AP either (i) a copy of the requested
personnel file from the Texas archive or (ii) a written authorization for
release of the file directly to AP by the Texas State Library and

Archives Commission;

d. Award AP the costs of this proceeding, including reasonable attorneys’
fees; and
e. Grant such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: June 22, 2004
New York, NY

Respectlully submitted,

LEVINE SULLIVAN KOCH & SCHULZ LLP

Dgavid A. Sehulz (DS-3
Cameron Stracher (CS-
230 Park Avenue, Suite 1160
New York, NY 10169
t: (212) 850-6100
f: (212) 850-6299

David H. Tomlin

The Associated Press
50 Rockefeller Plaza
New York, NY 10020

Attorneys for The Associated Press
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